














The watershed of the Eel is the third largest in California, and has experienced many floods
over the past millennia. The watershed can accommodate large amounts of rain, but when rain
falls rapidly over a short period of time, floods are inevitable. During recorded times, the earliest
known flood occurred in 1862. Rivers flooded throughout the state, a result of winter storms
bringing rain and snow almost daily to the state for two months. At this time, the nascent Humboldt
County had the smallest population in the state, with most American residents living in and around
Humboldt Bay. Those living in Ferndale were farther from the flooding river, although lands
throughout the region were inundated. Geologists have since determined that similar rain and flood
events have occurred every two centuries and thus high water is a part of the natural world of the
redwoods.

The flood of 1915 is notable in that communities had begun to be settled along the South Fork
of the Eel, including McKee’s Mill, now known as Weott, and more families had settled around
Myer’'s Flat. Farms had also been founded at Holmes Flat and Pepperwood as well as Shively. The
communities of Dyerville and Bull Creek were long established, and had been joined by the
railroad community of South Fork and Youngs. Additionally, the Northwest Pacific Railroad had
been completed the previous year, with many trestles crossing the tributaries to the Eel as well as
the Eel itself at Dyerville and the Van Duzen near Alton. Work was also underway to build what is
now the Avenue of the Giants. As a result, the 1915 flood was more destructive than earlier high
waters. The Ferndale Enterprise observed on February 5th , “without exaggeration, from reports so
far obtainable, it seems probable that this week’s storm and flood was the most disastrous in the
history of the valley or of the county as a whole.”

The 1920s and the 1940s saw a respite from the floods and freshets experienced by earlier
residents of the county. A flood in 1936 reminded county citizens of the destructive force of the Eel
River. The Mendocino Beacon reported in January of that year that “Eel River Valley Road in
Humboldt were (sic) submerged for several days and five low type bridges across the Eel River
were under water. . . . At Shively flood conditions prevailed for several days and there was no
method of getting across the river. The bridge was submerged and logs and drift prevented the use
of a ferry.”

Following WWII, logging experienced an upsurge to meet the demands of returning soldiers
who were looking to for homes for themselves and their new families. Humboldt County
experienced a swelling of its population as many moved to the county to work in the timber
industry. Industrial changes such as the advances of the chainsaw and in trucks allowed for more
trees to be harvested more rapidly. The results were often barren slopes that had once supported
forests. These new residents had not long lived along the river, and with the last flood two decades
in the past, few considered the consequences of settling in the small communities along the
waterway. The flood in December of 1955 caught many residents of Humboldt off guard. The
Humboldt Standard grimly observed “Humboldt County was virtually cut off from the rest of the
world as far as railroad, highway and air routes.” Further, “Highway 101 is covered by water and
slides generally from Fortuna into Lake County.” Damage at Pepperwood included “business
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buildings and at least one motel seen drifting down the current.” At South Fork “Sheriff officers
reported a man was clinging to an apple tree across the river.” In addition to power outages, water
supplies were contaminated, and the silt left behind by the receding flood waters was polluted from
the propane tanks, septic systems, and debris from the homes destroyed.

More alarming to state park officials and the Save the Redwoods League was the damage done
to the redwood groves along Bull Creek in the Rockefeller Forest. Much of the bank was eroded,
and work began to stabilize the sides of the creek. Riprap was placed along the creek, but proved
ineffective. Campgrounds at Williams Grove and Stephen’s Grove were badly damaged, with
Williams Grove never re-opening as a campground, except for large groups, and Stephens Grove
never reopened. Hidden Springs Campground was built to replace these two campgrounds.
Richardson’s Grove campground was also badly damaged as well as residences for park
employees.

Nine years later the 1964 flood struck on the same day as the 1955 flood. Similarly to the
great flood of 1862 heavy rains mixed with snow melt resulted in the river cresting 33 feet above
the road in the small town of Weott. Residents quickly realized that they had to depend on
themselves to help rescue those whose lives and belongings were endangered. The school in
Weott housed the store, post office, and liquor store, with these items being carried out of the flood
waters by town members. In Pepperwood community residents also worked together to retrieve
belongings. Sadly, Pepperwood was also the site of lives lost to the flood waters as some believed
the water could not get higher than it had in 1955. At Stafford, residents heard the booming noise
as logs struck against the bridges crossing the Eel during the night, in the morning, only one bridge
remained. As in the 1955 flood, Humboldt County was quickly isolated from the rest of the state as
bridges were washed away and slides closed Highways 101, 36, and 299. The Northwestern
Pacific Railroad lost miles of track and most trestles along its route. Helicopters were able to bring
supplies to the isolated communities after the storm, but it was three months before needed
materials could be brought by truck convoy to the stricken area.

With the destruction caused by the 1964 flood, new policies were put in place, limiting
construction on the flood plains of the Eel River. This along with the devastation of both the 1955
and 1964 flood led to the end of Pepperwood as a town and the moving of Weott up to the side of
the hill, away from the river. Much of the land of the former towns now preserved by the state park,
and was replanted with redwoods. The state park also determined that in order to protect the
redwoods in Rockefeller Forest, all of the Bull Creek watershed needed to become state park land.

As a result of decisions made following the 1964 flood when the Eel River overflows its
banks, less damage is done, but the danger to roadways remains. The river while peaceful in the
summer has the potential to rise and flood when the winter rains come. Automatic measuring of
river heights makes predictions easier, but when the river starts rising at a foot an hour, it is time to
seek high ground!
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